# 03

The Teaching of Architecture in Seville (1771-1807): on Arts, Antiquities, Books, Replicas and Models in the Setting of the Real Alcázar Carlos Plaza

The teaching of architecture in the Seville of the Enlightenment began with the foundation of the Real Escuela de las Tres Nobles Artes. In the architectural setting of the Real Alcázar, the teaching of architecture was divided between the drawing of models of Antiquity, the study of books on architecture, and the creation of models or replicas of architectural elements or types of architecture. A new, more complex interpretation of the teaching of architecture in the Escuela de Sevilla is proposed for the period between 1771, the year the school was founded, and 1807, the year of the death of Francisco de Bruna, the school's promoter, first protector and leading figure in its relationship with the Spanish royal palace. This is achieved by reviewing the known documentation, incorporating new sources and taking a new critical approach based on analysing the teaching of architecture and considering its relationship with other arts and teaching activities, and with the architectural setting and collections housed in it.



"One should not be happy just with imitating, [...] in Painting and Sculpture there are two things, one is what the eyes provide for imitation, and the other what fantasy does imagining the images, as in truth the first person to produce a boat first drew it and constructed it in their imagination."

Oración que en la Junta General de la Escuela de las Tres Nobles Artes para el repartimiento de premios pronunció D. Francisco de Bruna, Sevilla, Imp. D. Manuel Nicolás Vázquez y Cía, 1778, p. 8.

Art teaching in the academies of the eighteenth century was based on the educational value of drawing and copying works of art.<sup>1</sup> In relation to the three noble arts, the effectiveness of copying selected art models, particularly from Antiquity, was more immediate for painting and sculpture than for architecture. Even so, all students of the art of architecture received solid training in drawing and copying works of art, architecture and architectural elements. This consolidated the training of architects as liberal artists, from the Renaissance to the importance of drawings in the learning of Royal Academy of San Fernando students pensioned in Rome. Taking the Royal Academy in France as a model, the promotion of academies in Spain coincided with the royal state project and the ideology of the Century of Enlightenment. The Real Escuela de las Tres Nobles Artes (Royal School of the three Noble Arts) of Seville was founded in 1771. Under the protection of the Real Academia de Nobles Artes de San Fernando (Royal Academy of the Noble Arts of San Fernando), it founded its Preparatory Board in 1744. The school's origin and the first decades of its academic life were very closely linked to the Real Alcázar of Seville, where painters, sculptors and architects – "working in common"<sup>2</sup> – had the aim of restoring the principles of "good architecture" based on academic teaching that would put an end to the guild teaching carried out by master builders "without any knowledge of the good rules of art"<sup>3</sup>.

The historical transformations in this institution are well known<sup>4</sup>, particularly in relation to its protector Francisco de Bruna y Ahumada (1719-1807)<sup>5</sup>, some aspects of architecture teaching<sup>6</sup>, and the importance of the Alcázar collection for art learning during the Enlightenment<sup>7</sup>. Between copy and invention, teaching of the arts in the architectural setting of the Gothic palace and the Courtyard of the Cruise was divided between drawing models of Antiquity from local antiquities in the collection of architectural remains of Baetica and universal replicas of casts from the Anton Rafael Mengs collection, the study of architecture books, and the creation of models and replicas of architectural elements or architecture (fig. 01). Through a review of known documents, the integration of new sources and a new critical approach based on analysing the teaching of architecture considering its relationship with other arts and educational activities, and the architectural setting and collections housed in it, a new, more complex interpretation of the teaching of architecture in the Seville School is proposed for the period between 1771, when the school was founded, and 1807, the year of the death of Francisco de Bruna, who had been the school's promoter, first protector and an important figure in the school's relationship with the Spanish royal palace.

THE SEVILLE SCHOOLS AND THE TEACHING OF ARCHITECTURE (1660-1807)

# Background: architecture in the Casa Lonja school

The academy founded in January 1660 in the Casa Lonja of Seville was dedicated to drawing and painting. Officially, it did

not extend to architecture as an art of drawing nor did it awaken interest among practising architects as part of the body of teachers. However, it did expand in 1673 to the Academy of Painting, Sculpture and Gilding<sup>8</sup>. Nevertheless, sessions at the school were not without reference to "speculative" architectural matters. These were common currency in the teaching of the liberal arts by painters and sculptors in Seville - and in the rest of Spain - where the boundaries between disciplines were blurred. In the report that the lawyer and art treatise writer Juan Butrón (1603-m. s. XVII) sent to the king in 1626 for protection of the academy of painters in Madrid, he indicated that this academy "is the place where they [painters] come together to study with sculptors and architects, and other teachers of drawing"9. Francisco Herrera el Mozo (1627-1685) was one of the founders of the Seville School and was appointed Master Builder of Royal Works in 1677. In a biographical sketch about him in the work El Parnaso español pintoresco laureado, Antonio Palomino (1655-1726) mentioned that in Rome "he studied with great application, at academies and from the famous sculptures and prominent works of that city, with which he became not only a great painter but also an accomplished architect and expert in perspective"<sup>10</sup>. The problem of painters-architects or the distinction between "practical and speculative" architects is the basis of the diatribe between the liberal and mechanical arts in Spain in that period, which had Herrera el Mozo as a leading figure<sup>11</sup>. It would still be necessary to investigate this aspect with regard to the academic bases at the heart of this Sevillian institution.

The nocturnal exercise of drawing in this academy took place in the architectural setting of the headquarters of the consulate of the Cargadores a Indias (Chargers of the Indies) (o. 1583-1646). This architecture had recently been completed in the Sevillian architectural scene. At the time, it was one of the most didactic examples of the use of the language of the classical orders, specifically in the courtyard, which was clearly influenced by Andrea Palladio's (1508-1580) design for the cloister of the convent of Santa Maria della Carità in Venice through the *I Quatrro Libri dell'Architettura* (Venice: Domenico de'Franceschi, 1570)<sup>12</sup> (**fig. 02**). The importance of the architectural setting in which the academic life was carried out is what linked this academy to that founded in 1771 as the Royal School of the Three Noble Arts of Seville.

In fact, in its Statutes of 1807, the Seville School was considered inheritor of the School of Murillo, Valdés Leal and Herrera el Mozo, which was recognised as a "public academy of drawing", the leading one "among all the towns and cities of Spain". The document also explicitly mentioned the teaching of the art of architecture in Seville a century after the foundation of the first school, when "a number of fine arts enthusiasts met in a house in the Calle de las Palmas of this city, and with an Assistant licence they opened a public school at their expense; and so that nobody would go without teaching in the three arts, they furnished it with engravings, designs, models, live models and teachers"<sup>13</sup>.

According to Justino Matute y Gaviria (1764-1830), in 1759 an academy reopened in the Alcaicería de la Seda, which was more informal that that of Casa Lonja and was situated in the housestudio of painter and silversmith Juan José Uceda (†1786). In addition to this academy, another was created "that was established in the house of well-known artisan D. Pedro Miguel Guerrero, native of Jerez de la Frontera, in which he taught Arithmetic, Algebra, Elementary Geometry and Architecture". Due to the great influx of people who were interested, he had to move to a house in front of the Convento de la Dueñas, on the outskirts of San Juan de la Palma "where between draftsmen, students of mathematics, clay modellers and painters, up to two hundred people used to come together"<sup>14</sup>.

# The Royal School of the Three Noble Arts of Seville (1771-1807): rooms, programmes and books

The promoters of this academy requested in March 1770 royal protection from Carlos III (1716-1788), which included the cession of suitable rooms in the Alcázar. The matter was left in the hands of Francisco de Bruna y Ahumada, an educated royal official who, from 1765, had held the role of deputy governor of Alcázar and other roles in the state bureaucracy of Seville. His decisive support led to the academy's activity becoming official, recognition of the Academy of San Fernando, financial protection of the Alcázar rent and cession of the requested premises in the royal palace complex. Bruna became the official protector.

According to the first records, academic life mainly took place in the Alcázar itself. The academic year lasted six months, from November to April, with two-hour daily sessions held in six classes: principles, academice (or drawing of whole figures), plaster model, life drawing, and two architecture classes, including a preliminary class of arithmetic. The first director of architecture was Pedro Miguel Guerrero and the deputy director of architecture was Lucas Cintora up to 1781, when Cintora was promoted and Francisco de Paula Guerrero, son of Pedro Miguel Guerrero, was appointed deputy<sup>15</sup>.

The chapter on the "Director and Deputy of Architecture" in the first draft of the statutes, which is undated but considered to be from around 1778-1780<sup>16</sup>, established that these figures:

> "will attend the architecture class to oversee the studies according to the method prescribed by the Royal Academy of San Fernando. They will explain to their students the Geometry and Arithmetic required for

architecture and instruct them point by point on its theoretical and practical rules, ensuring that the students study and memorise the very wellreceived books of these faculties to illustrate the rules. They will only admit to their classes those who are very far advanced in Drawing, either through having learnt it at the same school or in another school anywhere else".

In a second version of the statutes, from 1807, the directors and deputies of Painting and Sculpture were allocated each one to the life drawing, drawing, principles and plaster classes. They alternated every month in a kind of coordinated, complementary teaching. In contrast, without this alternation with these arts and physically separate, in the teaching in the Architecture classes, the director taught "the way to arrange and construct all kinds of buildings" and the deputy taught "the elements of art until all the members and proportions of the five orders had been delineated."<sup>17</sup>

The statutes indicated for "The system of study of Architecture and the transition from one class to another" that "the method that the Royal Academy of San Fernando has adopted to teach this profession should be adopted"18. Indeed, the Seville School used as a model the academies of Valencia and Madrid to establish roles and operation. In turn, the Madrid academy had used as a model the academies of Paris and Rome<sup>19</sup>. At the time of the foundation of the Seville School, the directors of the Royal Academy of Madrid were Ventura Rodríguez and Diego de Villanueva<sup>20</sup>. According to its statutes of 1758, the Architecture course lasted "two, three or more years [...]. When completed, another course would be started and only at the start of the courses could students begin their study". Architecture studies did not appear to be completely isolated from the studies of Painting and Sculpture, at least regarding the practice of drawing. It was indicated that the directors "would not accept in the Architecture class anyone who is not sufficiently instructed in Geometry; neither will the Deputies admit in their class any student who has not learnt to draw well. Regarding the correction of drawings, what is foreseen by the Directors of Painting and Sculpture shall be observed proportionally"21.

Indeed, from the Statutes of 1807, integration can be observed in the teaching, practice and exercise of drawing between the three arts in Seville. Student candidates in the classes of Architecture had to have learnt to draw well in the classes led by the directors and deputies of Painting and Sculpture – "or in another school anywhere else" – and architecture drawings were corrected made considering what had been taught in those classes.

The first course of the Seville School began on 16 January 1772. Architecture classes were taught as well as other classes on models, life drawing and principles<sup>22</sup>. By way of a report on the development of the course, Francisco de Bruna al Rey sent at the end of the year a series of works, mainly drawings, to be assessed by the Academy of San Fernando. Among the drawings were "Four Architecture papers worked on by Don Lucas Zinlora, Architect" which were analysed by Ventura Rodríguez. Unlike the Painting and Sculpture works, these drawings were not appreciated and the advice given was to pay closer attention to the doctrines of the former Vitruvius (according to Daniele Barbaro's edition) and those of the modern Vignola, Palladio, Serlio and Alberti<sup>23</sup>.

Perhaps for this reason, the school formed in the following years a library of treatises and other architecture books<sup>24</sup>, like that previously established by the Academy of San Fernando<sup>25</sup>. From purchases and donations, the institution's accounting reveals the books of architecture that were available to teachers and student. These were mainly supplied by the bookshop Hermanos Bérard y Compañía, located in Calle Génova. Between 1775 and 1787, four editions of *Regola delli cinque ordini di architetttura* by Jacopo Barozzi da Vignola (1507-1573) were purchased, which may have included the Spanish edition of 1764 illustrated by Diego de Villanueva (1713-1774). In addition to the Renaissance treatise, Antiquity was present in the treatise of Vitruvius and catalogues of architecture in Rome, which also represented the

**RA 24** 

study of the History of Architecture and not just a contemporary operational theory. Beyond Spain, the academic study of Antiquity in the Academy of France, which was the model for the Madrid academy, had covered since the previous century theory - through the edition of Les dix libres d'architecture de Vitruve (Paris: Jean Baptiste Coignard, 1673) by Claude Perrault (1613-1688) - and constructions such as those of Antoine Desgodets (1653-1728) in Les Edifices Antiques de Rome (Paris: Jean Baptiste Coignard, 1682). Both were of interest to the circle of the Academy of San Fernando. An edition of the former, the Compendio de los diez libros de arquitectura de Vitruvio (Madrid: Imp. Gabriel Ramírez, 1761), was published by the deputy director of architecture Joseph Castañeda. The reedition of the second work (Paris: Antoine Jambert, 1779) was in his library<sup>26</sup>. Both books were also in the library of the Seville School. Vitruvius by Perrault was not explicitly mentioned in the accounting - as it could be any of those among the various "books on architecture" noted in the records and inventories. However, the school purchased in 1787 "the new Vitruvius", that is, the Spanish edition (Madrid: Imprenta Real, 1787) by José Francisco Ortiz y Sanz (1739-1822) (fig. 03). The book by Antoine Desgodets entered the school's library on 12 July 1807. It had been donated by a Peruvian living in Seville, Francisco Domingo de Barreda Benavides, who was a trader, politician and founder of the Academy of Fine Arts and had a considerable library. He gifted this book "for the advancement of the teachers"27. Possibly a reedition (Paris: Antoine Jambert, 1779), the Desgodets book was published in a large format and profusely illustrated with 138 plates of ground plans, sections and details of 25 old monuments that had been carefully measured and delineated by him in Rome between 1676 and 1677 (fig. 04). The book was unrivalled, as Barry Bergdoll stated, as a source of dimensional drawings of old buildings during the first half of the century. It was particularly interesting for studying in the academy of France, where Desgodets had trained with Francoise Blondel, and renewed the vision of old buildings, making them an important element in teaching and academic debate on the Querella and the modern recovery of architecture of Antiquity that spread to the rest of the academic institutions up to the end of the nineteenth century<sup>28</sup>.

#### BETWEEN COLLECTIONS, REPLICAS, MODELS AND ARCHITECTURE: THE ALCÁZAR OF SEVILLE IN THE PERIOD OF THE ROYAL SCHOOL

### Architecture setting

The school had its first premises in the royal palace of Seville. The model of being housed there, and thus showing the school's royal ties, could have come from

France where the royal academy of architecture was situated in the Louvre Palace of Paris from its foundation in 1671. It was promoted by Jean-Baptiste Colbert (1619-1683) and directed by Francoise Blondel (1618-1686). The settings that were selected by Francisco de Bruna in 1771 were the most representative of the Alcázar at that time. The academy occupied the Courtyard of Lady María de Padilla and the Courtyard of the Cruise and the rooms of the Gothic palace. For additional uses, the school was ceded a house adjacent to the Alcázar, with an entrance in the small plaza of Pila Seca, behind the garden of the Prince<sup>29</sup>.

The Almohad Courtyard of the Cruise and the Gothic Palace were the place with the oldest, most stratified remains in the complex. In turn, they represented the space that had been the object of the most recent modernisation works after the damage caused by the Lisbon earthquake of 1755. The old Andalusian and subsequently Castilian garden was transformed into a representative courtyard between 1758 and 1760 by filling in the four landscaped courtyards up to the level of the platforms, to create a new unified space at the level of the palace of Alfonso X, which was also the object of considerable transformation by the corps of engineers' architect Sebastian van der Borcht (1725-f. s. XVIII)<sup>30</sup> (**fig. 01**). The Lisbon earthquake revealed the weakness of the Palace of Alfonso, particularly the portico, which was constructed over the Almohad foundations. The platforms and sunken gardens that awoke the interest of Andrea Navagero (1483-1529) in 1526, and the narrow medieval portico facing the courtyard were no longer suited to the taste of the mid-eighteenth century or to the new needs for semi-public use and representativeness of this area of Alcázar. El Plano de los Reales Alcázares drawn up by Sebastian van der Borcht in 1759 was largely carried out because of these works of remodelling the Gothic Palace, particularly the "gallery" whose explanation took up most of the inscription and revealed the central importance of the new courtvard in terms of representation and distribution (fig. 05). The static and functional determining factors contributed to a portico design loaded with experimentalism, far from other exercises of van der Borscht in the more canonical use of the language of orders, as in the Royal Tobacco Factory or the Casa de la Moneda. The gigantic lonic order structured the solid pilastered columns whose lower register was interrupted in favour of twinned columns that introduced another lower scale to the composition: that of the start of the arches. Isolated marbled elements fitted with others of the same or a different era recur within the Alcázar. The coupled columns alluding to Carlos V are also a recurring symbolic element and link this new portico to compositional elements from the sixteenth century taken from the Courtyard of the Maidens, in a play of relationships within the stratified architectural complex (fig. 06).

When Bruna arrived in Alcázar in 1765, the works on the courtyard had ended. Although van der Borcht's proposal would not enter the most orthodox of the new academic canons, Bruna did not hesitate to situate between the Courtyard of the Cruise and the Gothic Palace the intellectual project that best represented his personal enlightened proposal: the public collection of local antiquities that coexisted with plaster models sent from the Royal Academy of San Fernando.

#### Collections

In Volume IX of his *Viage por España*, dedicated to Seville and published in 1786, Antonio Ponz (1725-1792) reported the presence of "paintings by different authors" from the houses of the Jesuits, which were hanging in the north hall of the Carlos V rooms – currently the Tapestries Hall – in the Gothic Palace. It was probably Bruna who indicated that they were there "for the benefit of the drawing school established in this City". In this first journey, Ponz did not mention any collection in the "beautiful gallery with marble columns" that he noted in the Courtyard of the Cruise<sup>31</sup>. In the next volume, published in 1792, he mentioned the large collection of antiquities that was being formed in the Alcázar. Since his previous visit, he said that Bruna "has increased the number of things of beauty, and has further ennobled the great hall every day, through his zeal and extraordinary diligence; in such a way that it can already be used as a place for more instruction"<sup>32</sup>.

The "things of beauty" that Ponz considered to enrich the great hall of the Gothic Palace were comprised of the *Colección de estatuas, inscripciones y antigüedades de la Bética* created by Bruna<sup>33</sup>. In the name of the king and as a public collection, these objects were operational along with the paintings for the "instruction" and benefit of teaching drawing at the school.

The collection that Francisco de Bruna placed between the outside gallery and the inside rooms in the Gothic Palace (fig. 06) was comprised of pieces from excavations of Italica, from other archaeological sites in the Kingdom of Seville and, above all, from local antiquities that the Genoese family of the Centurion, which had settled in Estepa from the mid-sixteenth century, had collected in their suburban villa of Lora. Ponz saw the most important sculptural fragments of this collection "placed in the gallery beside the entry to the rooms of the Alcázar" (fig. 07). This collection also contained epigraphic inscriptions and other sculptures, which have mainly been identified, unlike the potential architectural elements<sup>34</sup> (fig. 08). As they were not part of the local artistic heritage, Ponz did not mention in 1792 the plaster casts that were already exhibited, along with the most significant antique sculptures, in the South hall of the Carlos V rooms – the current Vault Hall – in the Gothic Palace. Along with the paintings and the statues, these were vital for the "drawing school", as Fermín Arana de Varflora indicated in the same years<sup>35</sup> (fig. 06).

The "plaster models" that Varflora referred to had their origin in the casts of sculptures that Anton Raphael Mengs (1728-1779) created throughout his life in Florence, Rome and Madrid. The court painter of Carlos III gave them to the king in 1775 as a teaching instrument for the Royal Academy of San Fernando<sup>36</sup>. At the heart of the donation was his desire to encourage the provincial schools that were being created in these years, such as those of Valencia, Zaragoza, Barcelona and Seville, where the sculptures that were most recognised as classical models could be studied. The casts would have been requested from Madrid before 1780, as Antonio Ponz wrote that "if the Seville Study attains as requested the best of the plasters, it will have more at hand the certain, sure sources of knowledge"37. Casts were already mentioned as an active part of teaching in 1790<sup>38</sup>. The Laocoonte group, the Apollo of the Belvedere Vatican and the Gladiador Borghese of the Louvre Museum were certainly among the casts received in Seville. Possibly, by analogy with the documented delivery during the same years to the Academy of Valencia, other casts may have been the Apollo Medici of the Galleria degli Uffizi, the Hermes of the Belvedere Vaticano and the Fauno del Cabrito from the Prado Museum<sup>39</sup>. Their central role in the academic life of the school can be seen in the description of the Método de estudio para los dis*cípulos y paso de una sala a otra* en los *Estatutos* of 1807<sup>40</sup>, but also in the students' drawings from the first years of life of the School, like one of the Fauno del Cabrito that is the work of painter and engraver Francisco Pardo (1752-1800)<sup>41</sup> (fig. 09).

Along with the sculptures and casts, the elements of the collection included architectural pieces. These would also be instrumental, through drawing, for study by students in the classes associated with the three arts. Of less interest to visitors and scholars than the paintings and sculptures, the Chilean Nicolás de la Cruz Bahamonde (1757-1828) referred to them after his visit to Alcázar just after the death of Bruna. He indicated with interest the collection of Roman, Arabic and modern Spanish architectural pieces situated in the gallery of the Courtyard of the Cruise<sup>42</sup>. Other antiquities that were testimony to the past of Andalusia were in the courtyard's gallery as part of the collection. They included a clay jar with wings and a wellhead with a caliphal inscription. In addition, in 1848, there was a "beautiful Arabic capital of a column"43. This also reveals the sensitivity towards Arabic antiquities in the setting of the architectural complex of Alcázar, which was of Andalusian origin and full of reinterpretations of the Islamic past. This was in line with the reappraisal that was also taking place in the Academy of San Fernando<sup>44</sup> and, without underestimating other more recent "modern" works, possibly marble architectural elements from the sixteenth century among the many that were conserved and still exist today in the palace and its gardens.

#### Models or replicas

In the first version of the statutes, Bruna added, as a note in the margin of the short chapter dedicated to the study of architecture, "ha de aver en la Sala de la Arquitectura un quarto para montear con ieso todo género de estatuas y bóvedas, arcos escaleras, portadas de todas obras<sup>445</sup> (there should be in the Architecture class a room to assemble with plaster all kinds of statutes and vaults, arches, stairs and gateways from all works). This phrase shows the intention of providing the school with a specific space where students of architecture could work with plaster to create models

of statues and models or replicas of buildings or parts of them. This workshop had been considered by Bruna at this time is some area around the Courtyard of the Cruise, where students would have been able to access the classical statuary of Mengs' replicas, local Baetica antiquities and architectural examples of "doorways", "arches" and "stairs", more than on the site in the Plaza of Pila Seca.

The provision of this workshop would replace the eminently theoretical teaching based on architectural drawing as a liberal art, compared to the skills gained in guild practices by master builders. The word that was used – "montear" (assemble) – indicates not only an interest in constructing a model or mock-up of the building to verify its typology, composition and use of language the orders, but also an emphasis on the construction dimension of its most significant elements.

The practice of creating construction elements and solutions in plaster can be found in the architecture of Spain from the sixteenth century. According to the writings of architects such as Cristóbal de Rojas (1555-1614) or Ginés Martínez de Aranda (1556-1620), for the learning and experimentation of stereotomy associated with a wide range of solutions for stone roofs in Spanish architecture, first it was essential to "contrahacer" (imitate) with parts made from plaster or clay<sup>46</sup>. Beyond the models that would have existed for works associated with Carlos V in Granada from 1528. plaster models are documented from the 1530s in Seville. Commissioned by Martín de Gaínza (1505-1556) they were created for the main sacristy (1534-1535) and the royal chapel (1541) of the cathedral. We do not know whether Francisco de Bruna was aware of the plaster models by these producers when he mentioned them as examples of the seven "magnificent works" of architecture carried out in Seville since the "restoration" and as models of "good architecture"47. In addition, commissioned by Diego de Vergara (1509-1583) models were made in plaster and one model in wood in the mid-sixteenth century for the Cathedral of Malaga. Almost two centuries later, in 1722, architect Miguel de los Santos recognised the practice of making models "in wood and plaster as was done in the past" to continue the works of the cathedral of Malaga<sup>48</sup>. In the second half of the eighteenth century, the role of models was notable in the circle of teachers of the architecture class of the Royal Academy of San Fernando, including Giovanni Battista Sacchetti and Ventura Rodríguez. In this academy, there was a specific room and office for models. The only models that are known from this room are made in wood for final rather than experimental purposes in relation to construction aspects<sup>49</sup>.

Returning to the "quarto de montear con yeso" (room for assembly with plaster), in this context perhaps Bruna extended the concept of "statues" to the more sculptural elements that comprised the classical orders, such as capitals, friezes and cornices. The replication in plaster of these elements could have been a focus of the academic programme. Thus, a "modern" collection of architectural elements was formed that could be confused with the aforementioned collection of fragments of antiquities by Nicolás de la Cruz Bahamonde, among others<sup>50</sup> (**fig. 10**).

#### FINAL CONSIDERATIONS

### Integration of arts, techniques, theory, collections and architectural setting in the academic teaching of architecture in Seville

As was common in the artistic spirit of schools and academies, including the Accademia del Disegno de Florencia, the house Lonja de Sevilla and the Spanish royal examples of the Enlightenment, in the Seville School drawing took precedence. This was confirmed by the statutes and by illustrious visitors. For example, Ponz described it as a "school of drawing" situated "on a site of greater instruction". Copying works from Antiquity was added to the usual academic exercise of drawing principles or life models. The Seville School appeared to be up-to-date compared to its contemporaries as it used replicas of "universal" antique works from the Mengs collection. This was combined in a very original way, considering the national and international panorama, with the study of "local" antique works such as those of the public Baetica collection put together by Bruna. In addition, the local school produced modern painting masters whose works were sold as copies in the same rooms of the Gothic Palace.

Drawing, in its many variants, and the copying of works of painters who were forerunners of the school appeared as an initiation experience that was common to the three arts. In the training of architects, drawing-based education was integrated with that of the classes of painting and sculpture, although the architecture class also had its specific characteristics. To the exercise of drawing from local and universal modern paintings and old sculptures should be added the drawing of architectural fragments that were also a part of the collection of classical, and to a lesser extent Andalusian, antiquities.

In addition, in all the disciples of the three arts, possibilities were provided by the architectural setting of the Alcázar itself, where elements from all historical periods coexisted in a wide range of spaces, including gardens and courtyards, from medieval Andalusia to the latest "modern" works represented by the anticanonical experimentalism in van der Borcht's transformation of the area where the school had its headquarters.

In addition to the exercise of drawing, the teaching of architecture included theory that ensured knowledge of the Vitruvian and Renaissance interpretation of the classical orders, and of the most important buildings in Antiquity, through more modern constructions. The desire to update the library was shown by the presence of the book Vitruvius by Ortiz y Sanz and the book by Desgodets.

One aspect that was as little investigated as it was original in the development of the Seville School was the provision of a workshop for replicas or models of architecture in plaster – the "quarto para montear con ieso" (room for assembly with plaster) – within the academic teaching of architecture. The aim was to integrate construction and plastic aspects. We can interpret this as an attempt to expand the horizons of the academic teaching of architecture that had been based only on drawing and theory.

The creation of architectural models in plaster, whether they were replicas of small elements or models of design proposals, appears to have been a refreshing proposal in the teaching of architecture in Seville that oscillated between copy and invention. Compared to other academies within and outside of Spain, Bruna's interest in introducing the practical, technical and construction dimension to architectural academic studies complemented in Seville the usual curriculum based on drawing and art literature.

In his Oración of 1778, Bruna praised the Sevillian school of architecture, and the illustrious teachers of painting and sculpture, at a time of consolidation of teaching that developed in the setting of Alcázar with many programmes. They integrated drawing and the study and copy of antiquities, books and plaster models. Regarding the objectives and the development of the school itself, it is necessary to consider the impact on teaching and the practice of architecture in Seville of these intense years of experience in the Alcázar. There, teachers and students of the three arts "worked jointly" to establish the bases of "good architecture". The recognition of the Enlightenment - in its final stages - as a "territory" that was becoming less monolithic and unitary and instead plagued with contradictions and fragmentation, would require investigating in greater depth the debates around the teaching of architecture and its connection with culture in each local environment. This would capture the specific characteristics that could enrich the main national and international syntheses on the architecture of the Enlightenment and Reason between the eighteenth

and nineteenth centuries<sup>51</sup>. In the case of Seville, this would enable an investigation of the attempts to renew architecture through academic teaching and whether this was the definitive decline of a "school" – as Álvaro Recio Mir considered for the case of sculpture – or a specific teaching experiment within the Enlightenment project that had declined in a certain way in Seville. A deeper interpretation of the teaching of architecture in Seville provides new assumptions for a more complex, less orthodox interpretation of the architecture that would be developed from 1771 and throughout the nineteenth century, in the context of the latest teaching developments in which there was still a debate between architecture as a liberal art based on drawing, the arts and theory, or as a mechanical art linked to the knowledge and teaching of master builders.

#### **Carlos Plaza**

(Seville 1983) is a postdoctoral researcher in the Department of History, Theory and Architectural Composition at the University of Seville. He trained in architecture at the universities of Seville and Florence (2007), where he subsequently obtained a PhD in Architecture/Storia dell'Architettura e l'Urbanistica (2013). His thesis studies were on the Architecture of the Renaissance with Amedeo Belluzzi in Florence, extended with Howard Burns at the Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa. He was a fellow at Villa I Tatti-Harvard University (2015) and at the Kunsthistorisches Institut in Florenz (2016). His research interests are history in a range of subjects and chronological and geographic areas, from medieval to the twentieth century, with a greater emphasis on the architecture of the Renaissance between Italy, Spain and America. Afiliación actual: Universidad de Sevilla E-Mail: carlosplaza@us.es

ORCID iD: 0000-0001-5632-2111

#### Notes

**01.** On the academies of the eighteenth century, see PEVSNER, Nikolaus, *Academies* of the Art. Past and Present, Cambridge University Press, London, 1940, pp. 102-131 (Spanish edition, Cátedra, Madrid, 1983). The lack of focus on Spain is made up for in the epilogue by Fracisco Calvo Serraller on Las academias artísticas en España, pp. 209-239: 221-227.

02. As indicated by Lucas Cintora, the first deputy in the class of Architecture in 1777; see CINTORA, Lucas, Carta apologética sobre la Noble Arquitectura. o Reflexiones sobre la reparación hecha últimamente en el Templo del Sagrario de la Santa Patriarcal Iglesia de Sevilla, Imp. De Joseph de San Román y Codina, Sevilla, 1777, p. 2. The full citation is: "This consideration excited the noble desires to see in Seville a distinguished body of Painters, Sculptors and Architects, working in common with serious application and praiseworthy emulation would at the same time be an honour to the homeland and of use to all the Kingdom".

**03.** According to the report on the state of arts in Seville drawn up by Francisco de Bruna on the occasion of the foundation of the academy in the Archive of the Real Alcázar de Sevilla, Box 152, file 31, transcribed in OLLERO LOBATO, Francisco, *Cultura artística y arquitectura en la Sevilla de la llustración* (1775-1808), Caja San Fernando, Sevilla, 2004, doc. 1, pp. 459-463: 459.

04. On the Royal School of the Three Noble Arts in Seville, see the first study by MURO OREJÓN, Antonio, Apuntes para la historia de la Academia de Bellas Artes de Sevilla, Real Academia de Bellas Artes de Santa Isabel de Hungría, Sevilla, 1961, pp. 1-38 (new edition. Seville, 2017). In particular, short notes are dedicated to Seville in LEON TELLO, Francisco J. and SANZ, María Virginia, Estética y teoría arquitectónica en tratados españoles del siglo XVIII, CSIC, Madrid, 1994, p. 205.

**05.** On Bruna and the Real Alcázar, see a first study in ROMERO MURUBE, Joaquín, *Francisco de Bruna y Ahumada*, Ayuntamiento de Sevilla, Sevilla, 1964 (in greater depth in BELTRÁN FORTES. José. "El estudio de Joaquín Romero Murube sobre la figura de Francisco de Bruna y Ahumada en 1965", in ROMERO MURUBE, Joaquín, Francisco de Bruna y Ahumada, edited by BELTRÁN FORTES, José, Editorial Universidad de Sevilla, 2021, pp. XI-XXVIII. More recent studies on the relationship between Francisco de Bruna and the Real Alcázar, from his works to his activities as a collector, can be found in the contributions in BELTRÁN, José; LEÓN, Pilar; VILA, Enriqueta, Francisco de Bruna (1719-1807) y su colección de antigüedades en el Real Alcázar de Sevilla, Editorial Universidad de Sevilla. Sevilla. 2021.

**06.** The teaching of architecture in the Seville School is analysed in OLLERO LOBATO, Francisco, *Cultura artística... op. cit*, pp. 97-111.

07. CANO RIVERO, Ignacio, "Ver para aprender. La primera galería pública de Sevilla en el Alcázar (1770-1807)", in *Mus-A. Revista de Museos de Andalucía*, 2003, 1, pp. 25-31.

**08.** As indicated in the statutes and account books. The most important documents, kept in the Royal Academy of Fine Arts of Santa Isabel of Hungary and in the Library of the Institución Colombina, and indicated by Juan Agustín Ceán Bermúdez and José Gestoso, have been analysed and edited in CORZO SÁNCHEZ, Ramón, La academia del arte de la pintura de Sevilla, 1660-1674, Instituto de Academias de Andalucía, Sevilla, 2009 and in DE LA BANDA Y VARGAS, Antonio, El Manuscrito de la Academia de Murillo, Confederación Española de Centros de Estudios Locales. Sevilla, 1982.

**09.** CALVO SERRALLER, Francisco, *Teoría de la pintura del siglo de Oro*, Cátedra, Madrid, 1981, pp. 221-233, Id., *Las academias...*op. cit., p. 210.

**10.** PALOMINO y VELASCO, Antonio. *El Parnaso español pintoresco y laureado* (tomo III de *El Museo pictórico y escala óptica*), Imp. Lucas Antonio de Bedmar, Madrid, 1724, p. 412. Other founders of the academy along with Herrera el Mozo – such as Bartolomé Esteban Murillo (1618-1682) or

Juan de Valdés Leal (1622-1690) - did not become master builders but were also recognised in the introduction to architectural issues for their multifaceted work: see, lastly MORALES MARTÍNEZ, Alfredo J., MORALES MARTÍNEZ, Alfredo J., "Valdés Leal, arquitectura, decoración y perspectiva", in Valdés Leal 1622-1690, exhibition catalogue (Museum of Fine Arts of Seville, 2 December 2021 - 27 March 2022), com. Ignacio Cano Rivero, Ignacio Hermoso, María del Valme Muñoz Rubio, Junta de Andalucía, Sevilla, 2021, pp. 51-68.

11. On the long-running problem of painters and architects in Spain in the eighteenth century, which was focused on Madrid and the setting of the court see BLASCO ESQUIVIAS, Beatriz, *Arquitectos y tracistas. El triunfo del Barroco en la corte de los Austrias*, Centro de Estudios Europa Hispánica, Madrid, 2013, *passim*, en esp. sobre Herrera el Mozo, pp. 343-374.

12. PÉREZ ESCOLANO, Victor, "Sobre la influencia de Palladio en Sevilla", in AA.VV., *III Congreso Nacional de Historia del Arte* (Seville, 8-12 December 1980), records-summaries, p. 88. PÉREZ ESCOLANO, Victor, "El patio de la Lonja de Sevilla", in *Laboratorio de Arte*, 1991, 4, pp. 83-100. The work of the Casa Lonja was praised by Bruna as one of the "magnificent works" that were representative of architecture in Seville, *vid. infra*, no. 47.

13. Estatutos para el estudio de las Tres Bellas artes, y gobierno de la real Escuela del Diseño de Sevilla / 1807/ Estatutos Para el gobierno de la real Escuela Del Diseño de Sevilla, y para el Estudio de las tres bellas artes en ella. Biblioteca Nacional de España, 210x160 mm., 1807, ms. 21454/10, cited in ff. III r/v. On the document see CERA BREA, Miriam et al., in Ceán Bermúdez, historiador del arte y coleccionista ilustrado, exhibition catalogue (Madrid, National Library of Spain, 20 May - 11 September 2016), director E. M. Santiago Páez, Madrid, Centro de Estudios Europa Hispánica, 2016, p. 204.

14. MATUTE y GAVIRIA, Justino, Anales eclesiásticos y seculares de la Muy Noble y Muy Leal Ciudad de Sevilla [...], printed by E. Rasco, Sevilla, 1887, vol. II, pp. 262-263. This charming announcement by Matute and Gaviria was complemented by documentary findings in DE BESA GUTIÉRREZ, Rafael, "Francisco de Bruna y la Real Escuela de Bellas Artes de Sevilla", in BELTRÁN, J.; LEÓN, P.; VILA, E., op. cit. pp. 112-133: 112-116.

**15.** On classes and teachers see MURO OREJÓN, A., op. cit., pp. 10-13; OLLERO LOBATO, F., *Cultura artística...*op. cit., pp. 100-104. The salaries of the teachers in: Archive of the Real Alcázar of Seville, box 151, files 1-2.

**16.** Archive of the Real Alcázar of Seville, box 152, file 30, ff. 2v-3r, transcribed in OLLERO LOBATO, F., *Cultura artística...* op. cit. pp. 463-474: 464, compared with the definitive version of the statutes kept in the Royal Academy of Fine Arts of Santa Isabel of Hungary.

17. Ibid. f. 11. The citation in full: "The Director of Architecture and his Deputy will remain separated in the class allocated to this faculty. The deputy will teach the first elements of art until all the members and proportions of the five orders had been delineated and the director will demonstrate the mode of laying out and constructing all types of buildings, according to the method and system adopted by the Royal Academy of San Fernando."

**18.** Ibid. f. 23, chapter XII, dedicated to "Método de estudio para los Discípulos y paso de una sala a otra".

19. QUINTANA MARTÍNEZ, Alicia, La arquitectura y los arquitectos en la Real Academia de Bellas Artes de San Fernando (1744-1774), Xarait, Madrid, 1983, p. 37.

**20.** QUINTANA MARTÍNEZ, A., op. cit., pp. 37-52.

**21.** Estatutos de la Real Academia de San Fernando, Imp. Gabriel Ramírez, Madrid, 1758, Cap. X. Directores de Arquitectura, pp. 35-36.

22. DE BESA GUTIÉRREZ, R. op. cit., p. 121.

**23.** BEDAT, Claude, "L'enseignement de l'architecture à l'académie de Saint Ferdinand (1752-1808)", in *España entre*  el Mediterráneo y el Atlántico. Actas del XXIII Congreso Internacional de Historia del Arte, Universidad de Granada, Granada, 1977, vol. III, pp. 307-331: 308, 317, n. 6; based on Sevillian sources, see recently DE BESA GUTIÉRREZ, R. op. cit., p. 121.

24. On books in the Seville School OLLERO LOBATO, F., *Cultura artística...*op. cit., pp. 107-111.

**25.** On books in the Royal Academy of Madrid, see QUINTANA MARTÍNEZ, A. op. cit., pp. 75-77.

26. BÉDAT, Claude. "La biblioteca de la Real Academia de San Fernando en 1793", in *Academia*, 1967-1968, 25-26, pp. 5-52, 33-85.

27. Archive of the Real Alcázar of Seville, box 151, file 3. On this person see HERNÁNDEZ NAVARRO, Francisco J. in *Diccionario Biográfico Español*, Real Academia de la Historia, Madrid, 2009, online edition (www.dbe.rah.es), *ad vocem*.

28. BERGDOLL, Barry, European Architecture 1750-1890, Oxford University Press, 2000, p. 16. On the work see DESGODETS, Antoine, Les Edifices Antiques de Rome (facsimile edition of the manuscript 2718 of the Institut de France), edition by L. Cellauro, G. Richaud, Roma, De Luca Editore d'Arte, 2008. DESGODETS, Antoine, Les Edifices antiques de Rome dessinés et mesurés très exactement par Antoine Desgodets architecte (facsimile edition of Paris, 1682), introduction and notes by H. Rousteau Chambord, Paris, Picard, 2008.

29. Which would correspond to that currently located in the angle between the streets Mariana de Pineda and Deán Miranda. On the sites of the academy in the Alcázar see DE BESA GUTIÉRREZ, Rafael, "La localización de las distintas sedes de la Escuela de las Tres Nobles Artes de Sevilla", in Temas de Estética y Arte, 2017, 29, pp. 177-201: 186-190. The ground plan of the house can be recognised as the "no. 4 today 16" of Calle del Príncipe in the Plano general de los Reales Alcázares de Sevilla v sus pertenencias declarado del Patrimonio de la Corona (General plan of the Reales

Alcázares of Seville and its belongings declared Patrimony of the Orown), drawn up by Joaquín Fernández in 1872 (General Archive of the Palace, Madrid, plan no. 1239).

30. OLLERO LOBATO, Francisco, "La reforma del Palacio Gótico de los Reales Alcázares de Sevilla en el siglo XVIII", in Laboratorio de Arte, 1998, 11, pp. 233-252; GÁMEZ CASADO, Manuel, El ingeniero militar Sebastian van der Borcht. De Flandes a Sevilla, Diputación de Sevilla, Sevilla, 2019, pp. 128-153. The preceding Almohad and its Castilian transformation ALMAGRO GORBEA, Antonio, Los jardines andalusíes y mudéjares del Alcázar de Sevilla, in MARÍN FIDALGO, Ana y PLAZA, Carlos, Los jardines del Real Alcázar de Sevilla: Historia y Arquitectura desde el Medievo islámico al siglo XX, Patronato del Real Alcázar y Casa Consistorial, Sevilla, 2015, pp. 1-39: 13-17.

**31.** PONZ, Antonio, *Viage de España, en que se da noticia de las cosas más apreciables y dignas de saberse, que hay en ella, tomo IX (trata de Sevilla), Imp. viuda de Ibarra, Madrid, 1780, p. 164.* 

**32.** PONZ, Antonio, *Viage de España, en que se da noticia de las cosas más apreciables y dignas de saberse, que hay en ella, tomo XVII (trata de Andalucía), Imp. viuda de Ibarra, Madrid, 1792, p. 216.* 

33. On the collection, see BELTRÁN FORTES, José and LÓPEZ RODRÍGUEZ, José Ramón, "Historia de las colecciones del Museo Arqueológico de Sevilla (España)", in *Horti Hesperidum. Studi di storia del collezionismoe della storiografia artistica*, I, pp. 95-125: 96-100; BELTRÁN FORTES, José, "Las colecciones arqueológicas de Bruna", in BELTRÁN, J.; LEÓN, P.; VILA, E., op. cit., pp. 165-210, con bibliografía.

**34.** Many of Bruna's pieces were brought together in the Antiquities section of the Museum of Paintings in 1840 and subsequently in the current Archaeology Museum of Seville, although others are conserved in the Alcázar itself. The inscriptions were studied in BELTRÁN FORTES José, "La singular colección arqueológica de Juan de Córdoba Centurión. formada en Lora de Estepa (Sevilla) durante el siglo XVII", in CAÑAVATE HERCULANO. C. (ed.), Actas de las II Jornadas sobre Historia y Patrimonio de Lora de Estepa, Ayuntamiento, Lora de Estepa (Estepa, Sevilla), 2015, pp. 47-90; and the sculptures in LÓPEZ RODRÍGUEZ, José Ramón, "Don Francisco de Bruna y la colección de estatuas de Juan de Córdoba Centurión", en BELTRÁN, J.; LEÓN, P.; VILA, E., op. cit., pp. 137-164.

35. ARANA DE VARFLORA, Fermín (Fernando Díaz de Valderrama), Compendio Histórico Descriptivo de la Muy Noble y Muy Leal Ciudad de Sevilla, metrópoli de Andalucía, Vázquez, Hidalgo y Cía, Sevilla, 1789, p. 80: "On the face of the aforementioned courtyard [of the Cruise] there is a beautiful gallery with marble columns, through which is entered a barrel vault of 130 feet long and 30 wide with a cupola in the middle. In this room have been placed for decoration and for the benefit of the school of drawing of this city various paintings by famous authors such as Pablo de Céspedes, Herrera el Viejo, Cano and Valdés, father and son. From this hall another is entered that is almost as long and in it have been placed statues and plaster models that have been provided for the study of the noble arts by the Royal Academy of San Fernando, at the cost of the Royal Treasury, Between the statues, various inscriptions from ancient Baetica have been placed, among which are some of unknown towns".

**36.** NEGRETE PLANO, Almudena, La colección de vaciados de escultura que Antonio Rafael Mengs donó a Carlos III para la Real Academia de Bellas Artes de San Fernando, doctoral thesis, Universidad Complutense de Madrid-Facultad de Geografía e Historia, supervisor José María Luzón Nogué, 2012.

**37.** PONZ, Antonio, Viage de España, en que se da noticia de las cosas más apreciables y dignas de saberse, que hay en ella, tomo IX (trata de Sevilla), Imp. viuda de Ibarra, Madrid, 1780, p. 276.

**38.** Cited in *Resumen de las actas de la Escuela* published as an annex to the *Oración* 

pronounced by Bruna on the occasion of the presentation of awards that year. Oración que en la Junta General de la Escuela de las Tres Nobles Artes para el repartimiento de premios pronunció D. Francisco de Bruna, 1790, p. 1; MATUTE y GAVIRIA, J., op. cit., vol. II, pp. 264. On the plaster casts, see RECIO MIR, Álvaro, "La escultura sevillana, la academia de San Fernando y el ocaso de la Escuela", in Academia. Boletín de la Real Academia de Bellas Artes de San Fernando, 2007, 104-105, pp. 133-156: 137; BELTRÁN FORTES, José, "La antigüedad romana como referente para la erudición española del siglo XVIII", in BELTRÁN, J. et al., (ed.), Le antichità e i loro protagonista in Spagna e in Italia nel XVIII secolo, L'Erma di Bretschneider,

**39.** BELTRÁN FORTES, José; MÉNDEZ, Luis; "Los vaciados de yesos en Sevilla. Un recorrido histórico", in Eid. (coord..), YESOS. Gipsoteca de la Universidad de Sevilla. Recuperación de la colección de vaciados, exhibition catalogue (Royal Tobacco Factory), Editorial Universidad de Sevilla, Sevilla, 2015, pp. 39-71:48-55.

Roma, 2003, pp. 47-64: 61-62.

**40**. *Estatutos 1807...*op. cit., f. 22: "after having studied everywhere the best and most famous of antiquity, which fortunately are preserved in the School in the Hall of Alcázar, groups such as that of Laccoön and his anxious sons and other admirable works will be understood".

41. Francisco Pardo, Fauno del Cabrito, black pencil on laid paper, 435x270 mm. 1773, collection of the University of Seville, Faculty of Fine Arts, catalogue number 0163-01-DEC-DIB. In addition to drawings by students of the Seville School, numerous drawings are conserved that were sent from Madrid; see SOSA ORTIZ, Virginia, La colección de dibujos académicos (siglos XVIII y XIX) de la Universidad de Sevilla: historia y conservación, tesis doctoral, Universidad de Sevilla-Facultad de Bellas Artes, dir. María Fernanda Morón de Castro, 2015.

**42.** DE LA CRUZ BAHAMONDE, Nicolás, *Viage de España, Francia e Italia*, volume XIV, Imprenta M. Bosch, Cádiz, 1813, pp. 241-243: "In the same hall, the academy has models of Laocoön, Apollo, the Dying Gaul and other various pieces by the celebrated Romans in plaster for study. In an angle of the courtyard, which they call that of Padilla, magnificent capitals, cornices, many pedestals and columns with Roman, Arabic and Modern Spanish inscriptions can be seen, the former also taken from Italica and other parts: and the second and third collected from towns in Andalusia".

**43.** Identified in BELTRÁN FORTES, José, *Las colecciones...*op. cit., pp. 194-196, currently the jar and wellhead are housed in the Archaeological Museum of Seville.

44. ALMAGRO GORBEA, Antonio, "Las antigüedades árabes en la Real Academia de San Fernando", in *El legado de al-Ándalus. Las antigüedades árabes en los dibujos de la Academia*, catalogue of the exhibition, com. Antonio Almagro Gorbea (Royal Academy of the fine Arts of San Fernando, 23 September 2015 – 8 December 2015), Real Academia de Bellas Artes de San Fernando, Madrid, 2015, pp. 13-29.

**45.** Archive in Real Alcázar de Sevilla, box 152, file 30, n.d., "stairs, doorways of all works" appears crossed out, citation in OLLERO LOBATO, op. cit. p. 10 that is transcribed as: "there should be in the Architecture class a room to assemble with plaster all kinds of stairs, vaults and arches".

46. GALERA ANDREU, Pedro A., "Modelli di architetture in Spagna durante e dopo il Rinascimento", in FROMMEL, Sabine (dir.) and TASSIN, Raphaël (col.), *Les maquettes d'architecture: fonction et évolution d'un instrument de conception et de réalisation*, Picard-Campisano, Paris-Roma, 2015, pp. 159-170: 162-163.

**47.** BRUNA, F. Oración...op. cit., p. 2, citation in full: "Sculpture is followed by Architecture, as shown by the magnificent works of the Main Sacristy of the Cathedral, started in 1529 and completed in 1534; the Casas Capitulares Fabrica by Alonso Berruguete; slightly later than the Capilla Real de Martín by Garnica master builder of the church in 1551, the Sala de Cabildo in 1558 and the Casas de la Lonja by Juan de Herrera in 1598".

48. MARÍAS, Fernando, "Il modelo architettonico del Rinascimento in Spagna: da Granada a Malaga", en FROMMEL, Sabine (dir.), and TASSIN, Raphaël (col.), op. cit., 143-158. From the cathedral of Malaga, two plaster models have been preserved in the Museum of Malaga. Considerations and Spanish and Sevillian examples of models and mockups in GENTIL BALDRICH, José M., Traza y modelo en el Renacimiento, Instituto Universitario de Arquitectura y Ciencias de la Construcción-Universidad de Sevilla, Sevilla, 1998, pp. 113-180.

**49.** Finally, see GALERA ANDREU, Pedro A., *op. cit.*, pp. 166-168.

**50.** In the collection of the University of Seville, there is a plaster cast of a Corinthian capital (N° inv. 1158-12-EECC-ESC). See the catalogue file in MÉNDEZ, L.; BELTRÁN, J., op. cit., pp. 142 (n° 44).

51. On architecture and culture in the Century of the Enlightenment, see the accurate critical approach of the set of studies in CALATRAVA. Juan, Arquitectura y Cultura en el siglo de las Luces. Universidad de Granada. Granada, 1999, citation in p. 11. On the architecture of the era in Europe and Spain, see BERGDOLL, Barry, European Architecture 1750-1890, Oxford University Press, Oxford-Nueva York, 2000 and SAMBRICIO. Carlos. La arquitectura española de la Ilustración, Consejo Superior de los Colegios de Arquitectos de España-Instituto de Estudios de Administración Local, Madrid, 1986.

#### **RA 24**

# Images

**01.** Portico of the Gothic Palace of the Alcázar of Seville, towards the courtyard of Lady María de Padilla or the Courtyard of the Cruise. Photograph by Carlos Plaza (2022).

**02.** Courtyard of the Casa Lonja of Seville. Photograph by Carlos Plaza (2013).

**03.** José Ortiz y Sanz, *Los Diez Libros de Architectura de M. Vitruvio Polión*, 1787. Cover and Plate L (Ground floor of the Greek house). Library of the University of Seville, Antique collection, A065/112.

**04.** Antoine Desgodets, *Les edifices Antiques de Rome*, 1682. Frontispiece and plate of the Temple of Peace (Basilica of Maxentius). Library of the Institut National d'Histoire de l'art, FOL RES 633.

05. Sebastian van der Borcht, Plano de los Reales Alcázares de Sevilla con sus jardines y sus posadas accesorias, drawing on paper, 1759. General Archive of the Palace, (Madrid), plan no. 4581.

**06.** Gothic Palace of the Alcázar of Seville, portico gallery (left) and Vault Room (right). Photographs by Carlos Plaza (2022).

07. Antonio Ponz, Viage de España, en que se da noticia de las cosas más apreciables y dignas de saberse, que hay en ella, tomo XVII (trata de Andalucía), Imp. viuda de Ibarra, Madrid, 1792, p. 222, Fragment[s] of an antique sculpture. Biblioteca Nacional de España, BA/725-BA/742 (Biblioteca Digital Hispánica, PID: bdh0000154545).

**08.** Fragments of toga wearers from the public collection of Bruna in the Gothic Palace, currently in the English garden of the Alcázar. Photographs by Carlos Plaza (2022).

**09.** Francisco Pardo, *Fauno del Cabrito* (Faun with kid), drawing, black pencil on laid paper, 435x27 mm, 1773. Collection of the University of Seville, Faculty of Fine Arts, catalogue number 0163-01-DEO-DIB.

**10.** Corinthian capital, cast in plaster, 305x350x350 mm. Collection of the University of Seville, catalogue number 1158-12-EECC-ESC.

# 04 **Mitjans as a Reference of Mitjans** Félix Solaguren-Beascoa de Corral

In his prolific professional career, Mitjans used study and reference as his main design tools. When he designed Barcelona's football stadium, Camp Nou, he travelled all around Europe visiting other stadiums and gathered documents and postcards of them. In 1968, he participated in the competition for the new Telefónica headquarters in Fuentelarreina (Madrid), and had El Escorial, Mies or Harrison on his drawing board. In the definitive version of the Atlántico building at the junction between Calle Balmes and Avenida Diagonal de Barcelona, his gaze turned to Gio Ponti. However, in his first works on dwellings, also in Barcelona, his referent was Raimon Duran i Reynals, who followed the aesthetics of US architect Charles Platt for the composition of façades. Thus, in 1944, next to Turó Park in Barcelona, Mitjans created a work in brick and artificial stone, with a flat façade and two dwellings per landing. Sometime later, he would design another building on an adjacent plot with a different dwelling typology. However, the façade was similar and provided a united, unique canvas that would help to give a uniform character to the green space of the urban park, Turó Park.



In 1935, Raimon Duran i Reynals simultaneously carried out two designs for two chamfered corners of the same block of the Ensanche area of Barcelona. These were the corners of Calle Lauria with Calle Rosellón, and that of Calle Lauria with Calle Córcega: the houses Cardenal and Espona respectively (figs. 02, 03). The two plots have similar dimensions, but the orientation of the first is to the west while that of the second is to the south.

The chamfered corner is one of the main characteristics of the Ensanche area. This distinctive feature tightens the geometric fitting of any design, particularly building programmes for domestic